1960

Spanish Fork West Field Irrigation Co. et al v. United States et al : Brief for Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is the second appeal in this case. In *Spanish Fork West Field Irr. Co. v. United States*, 9 U. 2d 428, 347 P. 2d 184, this Court reversed the judgment with directions to enter judgment in accordance with the views expressed in the opinion which is printed in the appendix hereto, *infra*, p. 8.

After hearing the parties, the district court entered amended conclusions of law and judgment. Among other things, the amended conclusions of law state in paragraph 13:

That by their applications for water rights in the Strawberry project, the applicants, upon

approval of their applications and subject to payments required of them, acquired rights to share ratably, in proportion to the number of acre feet applied for, in the waters of the project as a whole, including both storage water and water available under appropriations by the United States in the flow of the Spanish Fork River.

The amended decree concludes with the following provision :

13. That the Strawberry Water Users Association, in its management and operation of the Strawberry Project, does not have the right to allow diversion of water from the River without making a just and equitable charge against the user thereof.

14. That the charge to be made should be adequate to properly and equitably protect the rights of other applicants holding approved applications under the project.

15. That, since it appears reasonably probable that, if a 100 per cent charge is made for water diverted during early spring or periods of flood or high water, a substantial portion of such water will go unused and be lost to the project, the use of project river water during such periods should be permitted at a lesser percentage of charge, but which will be equitable and just, after giving due consideration to value of use of the water at the time and to conservation of stored water and also due consideration to the rights of all other owners of approved applications under the project.

16. That all water users should be charged in full for water used either from storage or from project river water during periods when stor-

age water is being released. The term "project river water" as herein used refers to water from Spanish Fork River available under appropriations made by the United States in the flow of Spanish Fork River.

Objections of the United States to these provisions as proposed by the plaintiffs having been overruled, this appeal was taken.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. Paragraphs 13 through 16 of the Amended Decree are not in accord with the mandate of this Court and exceed the jurisdiction of the trial court.

2. Paragraph 13 of the Amended Conclusions of Law is not in accord with the mandate of this Court and exceeds the jurisdiction of the trial court.

ARGUMENT

I

Paragraphs 13 through 16 of the Amended Decree are not supportable and should be stricken

The opinion of this Court treats this case in two different aspects. The first deals with the priority which plaintiffs enjoy to use up to 390 second feet of Spanish Fork River waters. We do not now raise before this Court any question as to this aspect of the case since the United States had, by contract, agreed that plaintiffs did have a priority in use of Spanish Fork River waters.¹

¹ It was our view on the earlier appeal as stated in footnote 2 of "Brief for Appellants, the United States," etc., that no such issue was presented in this case.

As we read this Court's opinion, a decree prejudicial to the interests of the United States is not authorized or contemplated. Hence, the jurisdictional questions whether the United States

The second aspect of the case concerned the amount the defendant water users should be charged for use of the waters of the river, both Courts having agreed that under the circumstances a charge for less than the full amount of water used from the river was justified. This Court rejected the plaintiffs' attack upon the administrative practice in this connection. It rejected the formula decreed by the trial court, reversed the attempted transfer to the State Engineer of functions performed by project management and the United States, and likewise rejected the court's retention of jurisdiction. Thus, as to the second aspect of the case this Court held that plaintiffs' objections lacked merit and, had that been the sole aspect of the case, would clearly have directed dismissal of the action.

The trial court should, we submit, have accomplished that purpose by eliminating all reference to the second aspect of the case.² But, rather than doing so, it entered paragraphs 13 through 16 above quoted. At first glance these provisions would seem to be harmless as requiring no more than the law would require, i.e., that the charges shall be "just and equitable," etc. And since the charges are diminished only during the spring season, paragraph 16, *supra*, would appear to be harmless. However, circum-

has consented to this suit and whether it could be maintained against the government agents would not seem to be presently important. However, if our assumption above stated is wrong, we continue to maintain the position that the action should have been dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

² The first 12 paragraphs of the decree relate to the first aspect of the case.

stances may change in the future. There could be occasions of very high flood when storage water was being released and charges should be reduced. Situations might arise when a factor other than "value of use of the water * * * conservation of stored water * * * [and] the rights of all other owners of approved applications * * * " might become important [paragraph 15]. There is nothing in the findings to suggest that the management was threatening to reduce charges for other than the reasons given. Also the "project" might be expanded or supplemented.

Since no specific defect was found in the present methods of administration these provisions could have operational effect only in prejudging issues that might arise in the future under different circumstances. A separate suit seeking a declaration as to the manner of conducting possible future operations, of which there is no present threat, would clearly have presented no justiciable controversy and would not have authorized entry of a decree like the present one. The fact that unfounded objections to present administration were made does not justify issuance of a decree otherwise unwarranted.

It is no answer to say the decree might be amended in the future if circumstances change. Having done nothing wrong, the federal agents and project management should be free to proceed to administer the project without the impediment created by the cloud of possible claims of violation of the injunction. So far as general principles are concerned, they are contained in this Court's opinion. But the attempt to

make specific application to all circumstances, as does the amended decree, is a far different matter. There is no justification for hanging the sword of threatened contempt over the administrators and compelling them either to compromise what they may believe to be correct principles and just and equitable or face the necessity of instituting further litigation to modify the decree or, alternatively, face the risk of contempt proceedings. Important in this latter connection, is the fact that litigation in this field of water rights is almost inevitably long drawn out. The present case was filed in December 1954.

We submit that there is no equity in permitting plaintiffs' unsuccessful assertion of objections to present administration to cloud future administration of the project in this manner. The paragraphs should be stricken both because they are not in accord with the mandate of this Court,³ whose opinion did not refer to any defect in administration, and because they constitute an attempt to prejudge further litigation rather than settling a present controversy.⁴

³ A trial court is, of course, bound by the appellate court's mandate, e.g., *Forbes v. Butler*, 73 U. 522, 275 Pac. 772 (1928).

⁴ The fact that the declaratory judgment procedure was invoked does not change the situation. Borchard, *Declaratory Judgments* (1934), points out (p. 26) that there must be a controversy to authorize such an action and states at page 40 that "the facts on which a legal decision is demanded must have accrued, for the principle of a declaratory judgment is that it declares the existing law *on an existing state of facts*." (Emphasis supplied.)

II

Paragraph 13 of the conclusions of law should be stricken

Paragraph 13 of the conclusions of law purports to describe what rights the applicants acquired in waters of the river. Since there has not been found to be any violation of rights they have acquired, the only effect that the attempted definition of these rights could have would be to prejudge future controversy. For the same reasons that the attempted prejudgment of the future administration is unwarranted (*supra*), this declaration is unwarranted. It is no answer to say that this is a correct definition under existing circumstances. Defendants have a right to be free of the possible cloud of this declaration in the event of future controversy under circumstances not now predictable. For example, if the "project" should be expanded what would be the rights then?

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons it is submitted that paragraphs 13 through 16 should be stricken from the decree and paragraph 13 should be stricken from the conclusions of law.