1961

Spanish Fork West Field Irrigation Co. et al v.
United States et al : Brief of Spanish Fork West Field
Irrigation Co.

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

It is argued on pages 4 and 5 of the Brief of Appellants that:

"circumstances may change in the future. There could be occasions of very high flood when storage water was being released and charges should be reduced. Situations might arise when a factor other than 'value of use of the water * * * conservation of stored water * * * (and) the rights of all other owners of approved applications * * *' might become important (paragraph 15). There is nothing in the findings to suggest that the management was threatening to reduce charges for other than the reasons given. Also the 'project' might be expanded or supplemented."

We are not certain that we understand what is meant by the language just quoted, but apparently the writer of the Brief takes the position that the Court should not make a complete determination of the case at this time because perchance the conditions might change at some future time. If that be Appellant's position, then the same is contrary to the established law in this jurisdiction.

The provisions of the original Decree with respect to the making of a full charge for all river water available for use when stored water is being released from the reservoir is the same as the language in the Decree which is now being attacked. Obviously it would be a waste of water to release water from

the reservoir when there is sufficient river water to supply the needs of those who are entitled to use the water that is available under the project. Moreover, no one in the former appeal made any attack on the provisions of the original Decree which is being questioned on this appeal. The purpose of an appeal is to correct errors which it is claimed were committed by the lower court. In the absence of an attack the provisions of the lower court not so attacked are deemed affirmed. *Rule 75(d) and (p) of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; Dalton v. Civil Procedure; Dalton v. Stout*, 87 U. 39, 48 Pac. (2d) 425, and other cases there cited.

It is likewise the established law in this jurisdiction that in order to be valid a decree in an action fixing water rights must be definite and certain. *Smith v. Phillips*, 6 Utah 376; *Holman v. Pleasant Grove*, 8 Utah 78; *Lost Creek Irrigation Co. v. Rex*, 36 Utah 485, 73 Pac. 660; *Hardy v. Beaver County Irrigation Co.*, 65 Utah 28, 234 Pac. 524; *Sharp v. Whitmore*, 51 Utah 14, 168 Pac. 273; *Tanner v. Roberts*, 73 Utah 98, 272 Pac. 633.

It is also the established law in this and other jurisdictions that in a suit in equity, such as the instant suit, the courts will dispose of the entire controversy. 19 *Am. Jur.*, Sec. 127, page 126, and Sec.. 409, page 281, where numerous cases are cited in footnotes to the text which support the same.

If the Court should leave the question to the management of the project as to whether water should be released when there is unused river water available for use, then and under such circumstances this Court would announce a doctrine con-

trary to its repeated statements to the effect that water in this state is its life blood, and the wasting thereof will not be tolerated by the courts.

We submit that the relief sought by the Appellant should be denied.

Respectfully submitted,

ELIAS HANSEN

Attorney for Respondents,

Spanish Fork West Field Irrigation Co.;
Lake Shore Irrigation Company;
East Bench Irrigation Company, and
Spanish Fork South Irrigation Co.